1981

Nick Kiahtipes, Dino Kiahtipes, and Angelo Kiahtipes v. Marius Henry Mills and Maxine Mills : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action commenced by Plaintiffs against Defendants for specific performance of an agreement relating to real property located in Carbon County. Plaintiffs (buyers) sought specific performance from Defendants (sellers), reasonable attorneys' fees, and damages resulting from the inability to use the property for the raising of crops.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Initially the lower court entered summary judgment in favor of the defendants and against Plaintiffs. This

Court in Case No. 15998, 599 P.2d 508 (Utah 1979) reversed and remanded the matter for trial.

A trial was held before the Honorable Don V. Tibbs, District Judge of the Sixth Judicial District Court sitting as a visiting judge, and judgment was entered by Judge Tibbs in favor of the defendants and against Plaintiffs.

The court found that the agreement entered into by the parties was only preliminary, that the two conditions precedent required for it to go into effect had not been met, that there was a mutual mistake of fact, and that specific performance was therefore not warranted. Consequently, the court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment (R. 145-150).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-appellants seek reversal of the trial court's judgment and an order granting specific performance to Plaintiffs together with reasonable attorneys' fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The large majority of facts in this case are undisputed. Most of the factual disputes arise as to certain conversations and events which transpired after the agreement was executed. This testimony will be examined in detail in the Argument portion of this Brief. Record citations will be omitted for all uncontroverted facts.

Defendants Marius Henry Mills and Maxine Mills

own property in Carbon County located in the Miller Creek area. This property consists of the "Old Mills Farm" and the Angelo "Peperakis Farm." The total acreage of the Old Mills Farm and the Peperakis Farm is approximately 515 acres.

In addition, Defendants own other property in Duchesne County referred to as the "Nine Mile Area" Argyle Canyon Property consisting of approximately 2,600 acres. The defendants also own and maintain a steak house and lounge called the El Rancho in Price, Utah, as well as various livestock, machinery, and water stock in conjunction with their farming properties.

In the latter part of 1976 Defendants were indebted to several financial institutions for money borrowed in the operation of the businesses. At that time the Federal Land Bank, the Utah Farm Production Credit Association (hereinafter referred to as "PCA"), Helper State Bank, and Walker Bank all claimed liens on assorted parcels of real property and items of personal property.

In September of 1976 a conference was held in Provo, Utah, among the creditors to arrive at an accurate financial statement of the Mills' obligations and to agree on a concerted program to liquidate the existing obligations. It was decided that a further meeting should be held with the Mills and their attorney to discuss such a program.

On September 10, 1976, a further meeting was held in Price, Utah, among all of the creditors and with the Mills and their attorney Therald Jensen. The Mills agreed to sell all their cattle by the fall and to sell enough land and water stock to pay off the PCA obligation.

Accordingly, in November of 1976 Defendants listed their farming property with Arms Realty Company through its agent, John Marsing. Two separate listings were made-- the first was the Miller Creek and Peperakis properties (the subject matter of this lawsuit) and the second was the Argyle Nine Mile property. The Miller Creek property, however, excluded 60 acres which comprise the Mills' home-
stead, the same to be retained by Defendants.

Interest was expressed by plaintiff Nick Kiahtipes approximately three months after the initial listing and at that time the property was shown to him. Kiahtipes stated that he did not think that he could use the whole property but would contact Mills later if he wished to purchase any part of it.

Subsequently, Kiahtipes contacted Marsing and said he was interested in purchasing the Old Miller Creek and Peperakis property.

Upon learning of Kiahtipes' interest, Mills testified he told Marsing that the only way an agreement could be reached would be to get the Federal Land Bank, PCA, Helper

State Bank and Walker Bank to decide if they would accept a sale agreement. (Tr. 211). Plaintiff Nick Kiahtipes testified that he was unaware of any Helper State Bank obligation secured by the property. (Tr. 99).

After the Kiahtipes accepted the sales price for the property it was decided that Therald Jensen should draft an agreement between the parties. Jensen had represented the Mills for numerous years and had also done some legal work for the Kiahtipes. An appointment was arranged by Mr. Marsing, the real estate agent, for a meeting at which time the agreement was to be drawn.

Prior to this meeting Mr. and Mrs. Mills in the company of Mr. Marsing went to both the PCA and the Federal Land Bank to propose that PCA as first lien holder receive the entire proceeds of the sale amounting to approximately \$192,000 in partial satisfaction of the PCA obligation. Mr. Loile Bailey of the PCA and Mr. Wayne Probst of the Federal Land Bank gave their preliminary approval to such agreement but stated they would both have to see the final form of sale agreement before actual approval could be made.

While the real estate agent Marsing acknowledged that he was aware that there were liens by the four financial institutions, he stated that he did not know which liens went to the numerous parcels of property owned by Mills and that it was his understanding that only the Federal Land

Bank and the PCA directly concerned the property being purchased by Mr. Kiahtipes. (Tr. 56). Mr. Jensen, the attorney, stated that he prepared the agreement entirely upon the informations the parties had furnished him. (Tr. 119). He stated he had no recollection at the time he drew the agreement as to which institutions had liens upon which property. He asserted that he was only told to worry about the Federal Land Bank and the PCA in drawing the agreement. (Tr. 136-137).

A meeting was held at the office of Mr. Jensen in which the parties and Mr. Marsing attended. An agreement was subsequently prepared and the parties came back to Mr. Jensen's office on May 10 to execute the documents.

The agreement is attached herein as an appendix. The provisions which Plaintiffs believe are pertinent to this appeal are paragraphs 3, 4, 7, 8, and 14. They state the following:

3. The parties are aware of an outstanding first mortgage on the "Old Mills' Farm" held by the Federal Land Bank of Berkeley, now known as the Federal Land Bank of Sacramento, as well as a first mortgage to the Utah Farm Production Credit Association of Salt Lake City, Utah on the "Angelo Peperakis' Farm" and all of the said water rights. The sellers have orally reported this sale to both of said corporations and have received an oral indication that if this contract is executed between the sellers and buyers, that the said Federal Land Bank will thereupon release its mortgage and that the said Utah Farm Production Credit Association will in writing, agree that when and if all the proceeds payable by the buyers

herein shall be paid to and applied on the indebtedness of sellers to said Association, that it will release its mortgage upon the said real property and water right. If within thirty (30) days from the execution of this agreement the Federal Land Bank should decline to release its mortgage or if the said Utah Farm Production Credit Association should decline to execute an agreement in writing agreeing to release its mortgage upon the terms and conditions above set forth, then this sales agreement between the sellers and buyers shall have no further force or effect.

4. The said purchase price of One Hundred Ninety Two Thousand Two Hundred Twenty Five Dollars (\$192,225.00) shall be paid as follows: Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) thereof shall be paid upon the obtaining of the said documents from said loaning institutions (which time is herein designated as the closing date) and the balance of said purchase price, namely, One Hundred Forty Two Thousand Two Hundred Twenty Five Dollars (\$152,225.00) together with interest on the decreasing principal thereof at the rate of seven and one-half percent (7.5%) per annum reckoned from the said date of closing shall be paid in twelve (12) equal installments of principal in the sum of Eleven Thousand Eight Hundred Fifty Two and Eight Cents (\$11,852.08) plus accrued interest on the tenth (10th) day of May of each year commencing with the year 1978. Commencing with the year 1981, buyers shall have the right to pay additional sums or the entire unpaid purchase price at their option. Possession shall be given at date of closing.

7. At the time of closing sellers agree to make and execute to buyers a good and sufficient warranty deed to said real property and an assignment of said water stock and to irrevocably deliver the same in escrow at the Zions First National Bank at Price, Utah, to be held by said bank and delivered to buyers at such time as they shall have fully paid said purchase price.

8. Sellers, at their option, shall furnish either title insurance or an abstract of title on said real property. If sellers elect to furnish

an abstract of title, the last certificate of the same shall not be earlier than the date of this agreement and they agree to deliver the same to buyers for examination after which said abstract of title shall be left with said escrow holder and shall be finally delivered to buyers when they shall have fully paid such purchase price. If there are any defects in the title to said real property which render the same not marketable, sellers agree to remedy such defects at their cost and expense and within a reasonable time after being notified thereof by buyers.

14. If either of the parties employs an attorney to enforce any of the provisions of this agreement or to pursue any remedy on account of the breach thereof, the losing party agrees to pay all court costs and a reasonable attorneys' fee.

It was determined at trial that at the time the agreement was entered into the Federal Land Bank had a first mortgage on the Old Mills Ranch (one of the two parcels involved in this litigation) and a first mortgage on all of the property located in the Argyle Nine Mile Area. (Exhibit 15A).

PCA had a first mortgage on the Peperakis Farm (the second of the two parcels in this litigation) and a second mortgage on the Old Mills property.

Helper State Bank had a second mortgage of \$22,800 on the Peperakis property and on the Nine Mile property, and had a third mortgage on the Old Mills property and a third mortgage of \$19,500 on the Peperakis property (Exhibit 15A).

In summary, therefore, the Old Mills Ranch being purchased by Kiahtipes had a first mortgage by the Federal

Land Bank, a second mortgage by PCA, and a third mortgage by Helper State Bank. The other property, the Peperakis Farm, had a first mortgage by PCA and a second and third mortgage to Helper State Bank (Exhibit 15A).

On May 11, 1977, the Federal Land Bank sent a letter to Henry Mills stating "We would be willing to release from our mortgage that portion of the property which is known as the Old Mills Farm." It was conditioned upon the existing loan with the Federal Land Bank being kept current and all money of approximately \$192,000 from the Kiahtipes sale being applied to the PCA loan. (Exhibit 2). No testimony was offered to suggest that the Federal Land Bank ever refused to comply with the terms of its offer to release its lien on the Old Mills Farm.

Immediately after the May 10 agreement was signed Mr. Marsing, Henry Mills, and Maxine Mills met with Mr. Bailey of PCA and presented him a copy of the contract. At that time Mr. Bailey told the Mills that the agreement looked in order but that he would have to run it through the legal department to make sure it was properly prepared. Subsequently the legal department approved the transaction and the letter acknowledging this approval was sent to Henry Mills. The letter dated May 11, 1977, stated the following:

The Utah Farm Production Credit Association has been informed of the above AGREEMENT by a copy thereof and the Association hereby agrees with,

and approves of the terms of the AGREEMENT with full proceeds of this sale (\$192,225.00) plus interest accrued) paid directly to the Utah Farm Production Credit Association as outlined in paragraphs 3, 4 and 6 of said agreement. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 8).

Mr. Mills acknowledged receiving both of these letters shortly after they were written. (Tr. 231, 233).

In June and August proposals were made to the Federal Housing Administration by Defendants to refinance all of the debts on all of the Mills' property. However, no plan for FHA refinancing was discussed by Plaintiffs and Defendants incident to preparation of the agreement, and the agreement did not contemplate refinancing by Mills. A letter rejecting the first proposal for refinancing was sent to the Mills on June 22, 1977. (Exhibit 9). A letter rejecting the second proposal for refinancing was sent to the Mills on August 26, 1977. (Exhibit 10).

In the meantime, Mr. Kiahtipes took possession and had begun farming the property in dispute a few days after signing of the agreement, and had actually harvested two crops of hay.

In September of 1977 Kiahtipes was, for the first time, informed by Mills that the agreement was not effective and that Kiahtipes must leave the property without harvesting the remaining crop of hay. Shortly thereafter this action was commenced.

The preceding facts are, as previously mentioned, undisputed.

The central arena of controversy in this case concerned whether the agreement had been complied with by the parties, whether Defendants were acting in good faith in subsequent attempts to put together new financial arrangements, and what conversations and events transpired after the agreement was signed. The testimony and evidence relating to these particular facets of the trial will now be discussed.

ARGUMENT

POINT

THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AT TRIAL AND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

Before reviewing the findings of the lower court and the evidence adduced at trial it is well to review the scope of this appeal. In equitable actions such as this suit for specific performance, this Court may review the facts and make an independent analysis of them. Creer v. Thurman, 581 P.2d 149 (Utah 1978). And while the trial judge has considerable discretion in determining whether equity and good conscience require the relief granted, it is equally true that where the trial court has based its ruling upon a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law and a correct interpretation may have produced a different result, the party adversely affected thereby is entitled to have the error rectified and a proper adjudi-

cation under correct principles of law. Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857 (Utah 1979).

Likewise, the rules of contractual construction are also pertinent. A contract should be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions. An interpretation of a written contract is ordinarily a question of law and therefore this Court need not defer to the trial court's construction but will make its own independent interpretation of the contract terms. Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah 1980).

The meaning and effect to be given to a contract depends upon the intent of the parties which is to be ascertained by looking at the entire contract and all of its parts in their relationship to each other. Thomas J. Peck & Sons, Inc. v. Lee Rock Products Inc., 515 P.2d 446 (Utah 1973).

Applying these principles of judicial review and contractual construction to the instant case results in the conclusion that the lower court erred in finding that the agreement entered into between the parties was not enforceable.

The defendants contended that the agreement of May 10 was merely preliminary and that it was conditioned upon obtaining an actual release of mortgage from the Federal Land Bank and an agreement by the PCA to subsequently release

its mortgage. Under Defendants' theory, after the agreement was entered into it was "discovered" by Mr. Jensen, the drafter of the agreement, that Helper State Bank had junior mortgages on the two pieces of property.

Even though both financial institutions had written letters approving the terms of the agreement, Defendants contended that the Helper State Bank lien in some fashion worked to revoke the consent of the two banks and that after subsequent meetings among the various institutions, Mr. Jensen, and Defendants, it was determined that the only way in which the Kiahtipes contract could be completed would be for a refinancing of the entire Mills estate.

Defendants' theory then continues that efforts were made to obtain FHA financing but that they were rejected. Consequently it was necessary to abandon the contract since FHA would not refinance the entire Mills' indebtedness and PCA would not then agree to any arrangement that worsened its position.

Defendants contended that Plaintiffs, through the realtor Jack Marsing and the attorney drawing the contract, Therald Jensen, were made aware of these problems throughout the summer, including the claim that the Helper State Bank lien was an obstacle preventing closing of the transaction.

The lower court accepted this theory that Defendants presented as is evidenced by the Findings of Fact and Con-

clusions of Law entered by the lower court. (R. 145-149). The court concluded that the conditions of the agreement were not met, that the transaction did not become a binding and final contract of sale, and that there was a mutual mistake of fact as to the existence of the Helper State Bank mortgage and the clearing of the transaction with creditors who had liens upon the land. Consequently no specific performance was justified. (R. 148).

Plaintiffs' theory of the events is considerably different. Plaintiffs contend that after the May 10 agreement had been entered into, without question both the PCA and the Federal Land Bank gave written approval in the clearest terms to the transaction as required by paragraph 3 of the agreement. The Federal Land Bank did not decline to release its mortgage as required by paragraph 3 of the agreement. On the contrary, it agreed so to do but no closing was yet scheduled for the instrument of release to be delivered. Likewise, the PCA agreed, in language substantially identical to the contract requirement, to release its interests if the proceeds of sale were turned over to it.

Plaintiffs assert that the reason the transaction did not close was that they were never notified that PCA had approved the transaction, and in fact were misinformed by Mr. Mills throughout the summer that he was awaiting

PCA's approval and that until it came Mills' hands were tied. Plaintiffs further contend that any efforts made throughout the summer by Mr. Jensen, the drafter of the instrument, and Mr. Mills, was solely to refinance the entire debt structure of the Mills estate and was not for the purpose of completing the Kiahtipes-Mills contract. In fact, within 24 hours of the May 10, 1977 contract signing both PCA and Federal Land Bank had issued letters of approval to the defendants, and all that then remained to consummate the transaction according to its terms was to schedule a closing. Both lenders, however, refused to consent to new and different arrangements proposed by Mills, and negotiated by Therald Jensen, throughout the summer.

Plaintiffs contended at trial that the Federal Land Bank and PCA never revoked their approval of these transactions based upon the terms of the agreement, but only balked at terms in which extraneous negotiations were being attempted to refinance all of the Mills property. In other words, the attempt to refinance with FHA had nothing to do with completing the agreement but was something which Mills desired to do in order to avoid further pressure from other creditors.

It was the position of Plaintiffs that the Helper State Bank liens were well known to Mills prior to the time of the agreement. There was no evidence that Kiahtipes, Marsing,

or Jensen were aware as to which liens went with which properties; Jensen and Marsing both relied upon Mills in describing the terms of the agreement. Additionally, since the Helper State Bank liens were behind PCA and the Federal Land Bank, the bank simply had no equity in those properties.

If there was a Helper State Bank lien upon the property which was not specifically included in paragraph 3, Plaintiffs claim it was the obligation of Defendants to clear such lien pursuant to paragraph 8 of the agreement; in any event, Plaintiffs should have had the option to accept the property with the liens still existing on them. Put another way, Defendants should not be able to avoid the contract by reason of a condition the Defendants caused themselves, but Plaintiffs should have the right to nevertheless accept the contract (and property) subject to the condition.

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