1981

Nick Kiahtipes, Dino Kiahtipes, and Angelo Kiahtipes v. Marius Henry Mills and Maxine Mills : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

FINDING NO. 6:

"6. Soon after the execution by the parties of the said preliminary agreement, a title report was obtained which disclosed the Helper State Bank mortgages and the said attorney representing both sellers and buyers participated in several meetings with creditors of the defendants in efforts to obtain an agreement from Helper State Bank to waive its right to receive part of the purchase money as consideration for the partial release of its mortgage lien or to accept other security for its indebtedness. Such attorney also met with representatives of the Federal Land Bank and Production Credit Association to obtain partial releases of land to be substituted as security for the Helper State Bank indebtedness. Said attorney also made an effort to obtain refinancing of all of the sellers' indebtedness to make effective and to close the said preliminary agreement. That all of the efforts hereinabove referred to were in good faith for the purpose of meeting the conditions of the above-quoted paragraph 3 of the agreement." (R. 147)

The plaintiffs argue that this finding is contrary to and not supported by the evidence for the reasons:

(1) No effort was made to have Helper State Bank release its second and third mortgages, but the sole effort was to refinance all of the defendants' obligations through F.H.A;

(2) Since Helper State Bank had only a second and third mortgage, the P.C.A. mortgage was in excess of \$200,000.00 and the purchase price was less than \$200,000.00, it was not necessary to refinance all of the sellers' indebtedness.

Excerpts from the testimony of Mr. Jensen and Mr. Litizzette are quoted in support of (1) above. The testimony of Mr. Jensen, Mr. Naylor, Mr. Marsing to the effect that the efforts of all were to complete and carry out the agreement is ignored. We shall quote and make specific reference to substantial evidence to the effect that Mr. Jensen's efforts were to obtain the necessary releases to complete and carry out the agreement.

A short time after May 10th, Mr. Jensen and Mr. Marsing went to Salt Lake and met with personnel of P.C.A. to clear up the title problem created by the Helper State Bank mortgage. (Tr. 122 - 124)

"Q. Tell us in substance what was said.

"A. Well, we were discussing -- I can't give you the details but we were discussing what might be done to satisfy the Helper State Bank, to see if we could get some money released to them for some piece of land or some piece of land, or get some piece of land released, and I remember talking about getting P.C.A. to release a small portion of land that we might sell or words to this effect.

"Q. Had you learned, prior to going up there, that Helper State Bank was threatening foreclosure?

"A. Yes, I think I had been told that." (Tr. 126)

- - - - -

"Q. As a result of that initial meeting, did you make other efforts subsequently to resolve the problem?

"A. Yes. I went with Henry Mills to Farmers Home Administration here in Price to see if we could get some financial from Farmers Home Administration, that is, sufficient financing help to pay off all of these bills and put the debt in one institution.

"Q. Were you able to obtain that loan?

"A. No, I went with Henry Mills twice to the Production Credit Association and we put in two applications and had two rejections and the last one was probably late in August or September of that year of '77.

"Q. Do you recall having a meeting at your office with Mr. Litizette and Mr. Holdaway and Mr. Anderson and Mr. Bunnell, I believe he was -- Boyd Bunnell, and Mr. Mills and Mr. Naylor on July 29th of 1977?

"A. Yes, I do.

"Q. What was the substance of that meeting?

"A. Well, that was another meeting with all the lending institutions I think in the nature of a conference to get together to see what, if anything, could be devised to take care of this indebtedness of Henry Mills and let him go through with the sale of his property." (Tr. 127 - 128).

- - - - -

"Q. What additional efforts did you make then to culminate, if possible, the agreement of May 10th of 1977?

"A. Well, Jack Marsing and I had several conversations and there was one avenue we pursued, at least Jack did and kept me informed about it and that was endeavoring to sell maybe a parcel of land, of the range land, to some people that were desirous of getting something for a hunting set up.

"Q. Would that have required a release of that land from Federal Land Bank or the Production Credit?

"A. Yes, I think it would have done.

"Q. In other words you'd have to go back and negotiate something more with them; would you not?

"A. If I'm not mistaken, I think they had mortgages on all of that property." (Tr. 131)

On cross-examination, Mr. Jensen further discussed his efforts to put the sale contract into effect.

"Q. And at that time you were concerned about Mr. Mills' overall picture?

"A. Well, at that time I was trying to get this contract on stream and that's what I was trying to do then.

"Q. Weren't you trying to refinance the whole thing for Mr. Mills?

"A. Yes, at the suggestion of Production Credit, and, in fact, they made the suggestion. It wasn't even my suggestion; that suggestion came from the lending institutions because they said, "Why don't you go and see if you can't get some loan and pay us all off?" That's how that arose, a second meeting with the -- but to answer your question I didn't have an ongoing assignment from September of 1976 to try to work out Henry Mills' problems, no.

"Q. Did you after the meeting you had with them following the May 10th '77 contract?

"A. Yes, then I was trying to do everything I could to get the problem solved so that we could go through with this deal. That's what I was doing.

"Q. Well, you were trying to get his problem solved so that he could go ahead with his business too; weren't you?

"A. Well, that wasn't my immediate problem. My immediate problem was working out this contract.

"Q. Well, at that time when you met with these people after the contract was signed --

"A. Yes.

"Q. You became quite familiar with his business structure and the liens that were on his property?

"A. Yes, in fact, I had found out about it after the contract.

"Q. Yes, after the contract, but that was around June 1st, I believe you said?

"A. Yes, or maybe prior to that, I don't know. It was shortly after because I figured I was going to help them, make them, get Henry to get this thing wound up as well as draw up the escrow agreement, I began to get ready to draft the papers. That's what I done." (Tr. 141 - 142)

It is abundantly clear from the foregoing that Mr.

Jensen on behalf of both the sellers and the buyers was trying to work out a plan to enable the parties to meet the conditions in the May 10th agreement so that the agreement would be in effect. There is nothing to support the absurd argument that Mr. Jensen was acting only for Mr. Mills in an effort to refinance his whole operation without regard to the contract. It will be noted from the quotations from the cross examination that plaintiffs' counsel was trying unsuccessfully to elicit testimony to support this argument.

Mr. Naylor, manager for P.C.A., in his deposition stated:

"Q. What was the next event that you recall that involved Mills or Kiahtipes?

"A. On 7/1/77.

"Q. I'm sorry. 7/1?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Okay.

"A. Mr. Jensen called and asked if we would give up the first mortgage on 60 acres on Mills homestead plus the range.

"Q. Did he say why he wanted that?

"A. So that Helper State Bank could have the mortgage on it.

"Q. And did he say anything else?

"A. No.

"Q. What was your response?

"A. I indicated to him that we were not in favor of that type of an arrangement, that we did not intend putting ourselves in a poorer position than we were already in, and they was to get together and discuss it, and he was supposed to get back to me." (Tr. 183)

Mr. Naylor recalled a meeting on July 29, 1977, attended by representatives of the creditors, Mr. Jensen, and Henry Mills. We quote:

"Q. What was discussed then?

"A. Okay. The sale to Kiahtipes was discussed. And I indicated we were not willing to give up any security unless there was some plan that they could come up with to help Henry liquidate the loan.

"Q. When you refer to security, specifically what security were you referring to?

"A. Talking about that 60 acres and any and all range lands that had a mortgage on.

"Q. Okay. You weren't willing to give up that security unless what?

"A. Unless there was some type of a plan for Henry to be able to pay it out.

"Q. Such as what?

"A. Not such as anything. They would have to figure that out.

"Q. Is that for Henry to pay out their indebtedness, or your indebtedness?

"A. Their indebtedness.

"Q. So you wanted everyone else to have a plan for them to be paid off before you would release?

"A. No. We wanted to make sure that if we released our property that we just didn't go right back in and start foreclosure. And we had to buy them back out to get the same position we had to start with.

"Q. So, you didn't want to put yourself in a worse position, in other words?

"A. That's right. And at that particular time we discussed going back to Farmers Home Administration and applying for a loan, another loan.

"Q. Anything else.

"A. And we agreed at that particular time -- let's see. Stated we would be receptive to releasing some of the down payment funds on the Kiahtipes property to pay some of the bills of Henry to show repayment on his loan.

"Q. I'm not sure I understand that. You would release some of the down payment on the Kiahtipes sale if Henry, from other funds, could show a method of paying off Helper State Bank?

"A. No. Could show a method of paying the P.C.A. If we was going to receive the funds on the Kiahtipes property, we was to get the down payment. And to take care of other creditors we was willing to release part of that down payment if we could get a loan from FHA to pay off Helper State Bank and Walker Bank so that they wouldn't come down on him and we would be the only creditor left." (Tr. 184 - 186.)

The testimony of Mr. Marsing and Nick Kiahtipes is consistent with the testimony of Mr. Jensen that he was trying to work out a plan which would make the agreement effective. (Tr. 66 - 68, 78, and 79.)

Another attack on finding No. 6 is that "...Since the proceeds of the sale were to be less than \$200,000.00, the Helper State Bank lien as a second and third mortgage on the two parcels of property would have had no effect upon P.C.A. receiving the

proceeds. It clearly was not necessary to refinance all of the sellers' indebtedness in order to close the Kiahtipes deal." The only reason for inserting paragraph 3 in the agreement was to protect the sellers against disaster resulting from foreclosure by P.C.A. and the other creditors. The record is clear that P.C.A. and Helper State Bank were ready to foreclose. (Tr. 219, 220).

The idea that Helper State Bank had no interest in the down payment for the sale of land on which it had a second and third mortgage is beside the point. Its mortgages were in default and it could start to foreclose them if no payment was made from the proceeds of the sale. The effect of its relative priority would not be important until foreclosure was under way. The intent and purpose of paragraph 3 to protect against immediate foreclosure would be defeated unless some money was paid to Helper State Bank.

Finding No. 6 is fully supported by the evidence.

FINDING NO. 7:

"7. No release of the Federal Land Bank mortgage was obtained as required by said paragraph 3 or at all and no unconditional agreement for release was obtained from the Production Credit Association; that the letters, exhibits numbered 2 and 3 did not meet the requirements of the above-quoted paragraph 3; that all efforts to close the transaction for the sale of the land and the water stock by obtaining the documents from the loaning institutions as provided by the above-quoted paragraph 3 failed and no payments were made by the buyers to the sellers on the purchase price. No escrow arrangement was made at Zions First National Bank in Price or with any other bank or escrow holder and no deed and no endorsed certificates of stock were deposited with any escrow holder.

The plaintiffs argue that Finding No. 7 is an incorrect statement of the requirements of paragraph 3 of the Agreement. This finding simply states that: (1) no release of the Federal Land Bank mortgage was obtained; (2) no unconditional agreement to release was obtained from P.C.A.; (3) that the letters, Exhibits 2 and 3, did not meet the requirements of paragraph 3; (4) all efforts to close the transaction failed; (5) no payment was made on the purchase price; and (6) no escrow arrangement was set up.

(1)

The trial court properly held that the letter dated May 11, 1977, by the Federal Land Bank to Mr. Mills did not constitute a release of mortgage. It is merely a statement that the bank would be willing to release at some future time upon compliance with the bank's partial release policy, upon keeping the loan current. "...and that all monies, approximately \$192,000.00 from the sale of this and the Peperakis farm are applied to your now existing debt to the Utah Farm Production Credit Association."

It is obvious that the letter is not a release of mortgage and that it is conditional. The attorney for the contracting parties did not consider it to be a release. He met with creditors several times in May, June, July, and August 1977, in an effort to meet the conditions.

(2) (3) (4)(5) (6)

The letter dated May 11, 1977, from P.C.A. to Mills, Exhibit 3, indicates that it "...agrees with, and approves of the terms of the Agreement, with full proceeds of the sale (\$192,225.00 plus interest accrued) paid directly to the Utah Farm Production Credit Association as outlined in paragraphs 3, 4, and 6 of said Agreement."

As indicated in the last sentence of Finding of Fact No. 3, which, as shown above, is not disputed by the plaintiffs, it was the intent of the parties that the agreement was to be effective only if title could be cleared so that all of the purchase money could go to P.C.A. The record is clear that Helper State Bank would foreclose if all the money would go to P.C.A. and P.C.A. would foreclose unless it got all of the money from the sale. This is the obvious reason why no unconditional release was delivered, why the down payment was not made, why no escrow was set up and why the preliminary contract did not become a final contract. (Tr. 219, 220)

The arguments of plaintiffs about the failure of defendants to notify the plaintiffs of the approval by P.C.A., on pages 26 and 27 of their brief, being the reason that the closing did not occur is misleading and contrary to the evidence. A letter identical to Exhibit 3, which is numbered Exhibit 8 and dated May 11, 1977, was mailed to Nick Kiahtipes. He denied that he received it, but it appeared in Mr. Jensen's file. (Tr. 232 - 233) Mr. Jensen was his attorney and it is hard to believe that it could

have gotten into the file without delivery by Mr. Kiahtipes. He obviously forgot about it.

There is no support in the record for the rash statement that the closing of the contract was held up only because Mr. Kiahtipes did not know of the conditional approval by P.C.A. Equally rash and unsupported is the statement on page 28 of the Brief of Appellant that ".... the Helper State Bank lien existing upon the property subject to sale had no effect whatsoever upon this transaction."

All of the evidence regarding activities of counsel for both parties and of creditors quoted from and cited above shows clearly that the sellers would not sell and complete the contract without protection of themselves and the buyers against imminent foreclosure. The cases cited by the plaintiffs, pages 29 - 32 of their brief, are not in point because no contract, referred to, contained a provision similar to paragraph 3 of the Agreement involved in this case.

Finding No. 7 is supported by the undisputed finding of intent and the great preponderance of the evidence. The plaintiffs' argument consisting of speculative theorizing on the abstract is entirely without merit.

IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION
THAT THERE WAS A MUTUAL MISTAKE OF FACT
IS SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND LAW

CONCLUSION OF LAW No. 2 states:

"2. There was a mutual mistake of fact as to the existence of the Helper State Bank mortgage and the clearing of the transaction with creditors who had liens upon the land and water stock described in the preliminary agreement."

This conclusion is attacked on the ground that it is based upon (1) erroneous findings of fact, (2) that only Mills was aware of the lien of the Helper State Bank, (App. br. pp. 31, 32), (3) that the mistake issue was not raised until after Mills decided not to sell, and (4) "...the Helper State Bank didn't have any equity in the properties anyway."

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